5

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Barnwell County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEMONTAY MARKEITH PAYNE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002014

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUN 24 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter where (1) the undisputed evidence showed that Appellant and the deceased were in a heated argument immediately prior to the shooting, (2) there was additional evidence that the deceased pulled a gun and shot at Appellant immediately prior to Appellant returning fire, and (3) the judge based his decision not to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense because Appellant did not remember the content of the argument?

II. Did the trial judge err in failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to the evidence presented, including that if a defendant is justified in firing the first shot, the defendant is justified in continuing to shoot until it is apparent that the danger to his life and body has ceased?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Barnwell County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2017-GS-06-00066) on March 9, 2017. R. 246-247. On September 18-19, 2017, the state, represented by David Miller and Jackson Cooper, called the case for trial before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, and a jury. R. 1. Joshua Koger represented Appellant. R. 1. Judge Early refused defense counsel's request to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter; therefore, the jury considered only the murder charge. R. 173, l. 23 – R. 175, l. 3.

During the deliberations, the jury requested the elements of self-defense in writing. R. 234, ll. 23-25; R. 244. Judge Early declined the jury's request to provide the instruction in writing, but he verbally re-instructed the jury on self-defense. R. 235, l. 2 – R. 236, l. 16. Additionally, the jury questioned what would happen if the jurors could not agree. R. 236, ll. 17-18; R. 245. Judge Early told the jurors that it was "way too early to be deciding that." R. 236, ll. 18-19. He noted the jury had "only been out less than two hours." R. 236, ll. 19-20. However, he then told the jurors:

So, you know, there's been a lot of time and effort put into the trial of this case. And, I mean, if at the end of six or seven hours you aren't able to agree, then I may - - but here's what happens: We do it again. It's a mistrial we bring in another set of jurors, the same witnesses, maybe the same judge or another judge will be telling the jury the same thing.

So we encourage, please try to reach a unanimous decision. Obviously, if you can't - - but we're way too early in it to decide that. You know it's 5:30 now.

R. 236, l. 20 – R. 237, l. 6. An hour later, the jury returned to the courtroom to announce its verdict. R. 237, ll. 12-22. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 238, l. 23 – R. 239, l. 9. Judge Early sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment. R. 240, ll. 6-8; R. 248.

On September 29, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 23, 2015, Appellant stopped at his next door neighbor's home to visit with some friends, Alicia Youmans, Tyeisha Youmans, and Yvette Walker. R. 11, ll. 20-24; R. 14, l. 19 – R. 15, l. 9; R. 16, ll. 2-5; R. 104, l. 12 – R. 105, l. 11; R. 107, ll. 13-14; R. 149, ll. 2-6. The foursome was sitting outside. R. 12, ll. 9-10; R. 105, ll. 15-19; R. 149, l. 7 – R. 150, l. 1. Suddenly, Devante Odom appeared. R. 15, ll. 10-23; R. 150, ll. 19-23. Odom asked to buy two cigarettes from Alicia. R. 16, ll. 11-14; R. 151, ll. 15-20.

Odom and Appellant began arguing. R. 16, ll. 20-23; R. 32, l. 24 – R. 33, l. 1; R. 108, ll. 1-5; R. 109, ll. 17-23; R. 110, ll. 10-1; R. 152, ll. 7-12. Appellant did not remember what Odom said to him, but he remembered telling Odom that he was not “worrying about it.” R. 152, ll. 13-19; R. 160, l. 24 – R. 161, l. 2. The argument ended when Odom walked in the road toward Appellant's home. R. 17, ll. 5-7; R. 17, l. 18 – R. 18, l. 2; R. 153, ll. 4-8; R. 153, ll. 13-15. Shortly thereafter, Appellant got into his car and drove toward his home. R. 17, ll. 5-7; R. 19, ll. 1-8; R. 107, ll. 11-25; R. 111, ll. 11-15; R. 111, ll. 20-25; R. 154, ll. 8-24.

Appellant explained that as he was getting out of his car, he saw Odom approach him. R. 155, ll. 9-11; R. 163, ll. 16-22. The two men then “exchanged words.” R. 155, ll. 22-23. Odom fired a shot at him. R. 155, ll. 9-11; R. 155, l. 23. In fear for his life, Appellant then fired back at Odom. R. 155, l. 11; R. 155, ll. 23-24; R. 156, ll. 11-12; R. 159, ll. 6-12.¹ Appellant explained that he was shooting at Odom as he was backing away from Odom and moving toward his house. R. 156, ll. 3-12; R. 165, ll. 3-5. Appellant did not remember how many shots he fired. R. 156, ll. 18-21.

¹ Appellant had started carrying a gun because he had received threats from Odom's friends. R. 168, ll. 14-19.

Tyeisha's testimony differed only slightly from Appellant's memory of the events. Tyeisha explained that Appellant parked his car at his home and walked to the roadway where Odom, who was taunting Appellant, stood. R. 113, ll. 7-15. Appellant and Odom continued to have words with each other. R. 113, ll. 2-6. According to Tyeisha, Appellant swung at Odom, trying to punch him. R. 113, ll. 18-20; R. 114, ll. 1-3; R. 129, ll. 2-7; R. 131, ll. 5-7. Odom stepped back to avoid the hit. R. 114, ll. 4-7.

After the attempted punch, Odom pulled a gun on Appellant. R. 114, ll. 7-18; R. 129, ll. 8-10. Although the two men continued to exchange heated words, Appellant turned to go toward his house and car. R. 114, l. 19 – R. 115, l. 1; R. 129, ll. 11-15. Odom followed Appellant into his yard. R. 115, ll. 5-25; R. 116, ll. 3-8; R. 130, ll. 5-7. As the verbal argument and Odom's pursuit continued, Appellant turned around to face Odom. R. 116, ll. 9-10; R. 130, ll. 7-8. Odom then fired a shot at Appellant, who fired back. R. 117, ll. 4-15; R. 129, ll. 17-21; R. 130, ll. 8-9. When Appellant started shooting at Odom, Odom started running. R. 117, ll. 16-24; R. 118, ll. 1-2. Appellant then got into his car and left. R. 118, ll. 19-24.

When Tyeisha saw that Odom had fallen to the ground, she went to check on him. R. 118, l. 19 – R. 119, l. 10. Although only a few other people were gathered around Odom initially, "more and more people" arrived as time passed. R. 119, ll. 11-17. Tyeisha saw Odom's gun beside his body when she first got to him. R. 119, ll. 18-23. Approximately fifteen minutes later, Tyeisha left. R. 121, ll. 3-5. Although the police had not arrived yet, there were about thirty people near Odom at that time. R. 120, ll. 5-16.

Alicia claimed she was alone outside after Appellant left because her sister and Yvette walked inside. R. 20, ll. 11-15.² According to Alicia, Appellant drove to where Odom was in the roadway and the two “had another verbal dispute or whatever.” R. 20, ll. 16-20; R. 21, ll. 12-16. She further claimed Appellant got out of his car while the two men continued to argue. R. 20, ll. 20-22. Then, Appellant “turned to go back to his car,” but he never made it all the way back to his car. R. 20, l. 22; R. 21, l. 22 – R. 22, l. 1.

Alicia was uncertain “if something was said or what happened,” but she next saw Appellant turn around to face Odom and begin shooting at him. R. 20, ll. 22-25; R. 22, ll. 2-5. Odom started running. R. 22, ll. 6-8. Alicia claimed she saw Odom “fall to the ground” and “start[] waving his arm in the air.” R. 23, ll. 20-23. Alicia called 911. R. 23, l. 24 – R. 24, l. 5. Alicia told the 911 dispatcher that Appellant shot Odom. R. 24, ll. 8-20. Alicia walked up to Odom where she joined more than five people who had gathered already around him. R. 26, ll. 4-11.

Brandy Williams, who was visiting her parents nearby, heard seven to nine gunshots. R. 46 ll. 19-20. After calling for help, Williams went to where Odom was on the ground and performed CPR on Odom for thirty minutes – the time it took law enforcement to arrive. R. 48, ll. 19-20; R. 50, ll. 7-10. By the time the police arrived, there were between ten and fifteen people gathered around Odom. R. 50, ll. 3-6; R. 51, ll. 1-15.

² Appellant contradicted Alicia Youmans’ testimony on this point. Appellant saw Alicia go inside the house to get the cigarettes for Odom. R. 151, l. 25 – R. 152, l. 6.

When the first officer arrived on the scene, there were more than twenty people present. R. 131, ll. 10-16. The scene was “chaotic.” R. 142, ll. 20-23. Initially, “there was a bit of confusion on exactly where the crime scene was or the incident location was.” R. 143, ll. 2-4. When the police “finally got there,” they found “a large number of people” and had difficulty securing the scene. R. 143, ll. 4-6. In light of the crowd, the local police department “had to call for additional units from Barnwell, Williston, and Blackville” to help “control the crowd and secure everything.” R. 143, ll. 7-10.

When law enforcement finally secured at the scene, the investigator processing the scene collected six .380 caliber shell casings. R. 56, ll. 6-12; R. 57, ll. 12-13.³ Unfortunately, there was no way for the jury to know where the shell casings were located because the photographs the investigator took were lost by the police prior to trial. R. 55, ll. 12-17; R. 56, ll. 13-18. When asked where he found the casings, the investigator was uncertain of the exact location, but estimated they were found in the front yard of a particular residence. R. 56, l. 19 – R. 57, l. 7; R. 63, ll. 6-10; R. 64, ll. 6-8. He thought the .380 shell casings were found within six to eight feet of each other. R. 57, ll. 14-17. According to the forensic firearms examiner, the six .380 caliber shell casings were fired by the same firearm. R. 82, ll. 11-17; R. 84, ll. 13-14.

Additionally, and most importantly, the investigator found a .40 caliber shell casing close to where Odom was lying on the ground. R. 58, ll. 3-9. The examiner explained the .40 Smith and Wesson caliber casing that was found close to Odom’s body “was not fired by the same gun” that fired the .380 caliber shell casings. R. 83, ll. 17-19; R. 84, ll. 13-16. Furthermore, forensic testing revealed Odom had gunshot residue on both of his hands. R. 73, l. 22 – R. 74, l. 12.

³ Appellant admitted he was using a Hi-Point .380 firearm. R. 168, ll. 5-8.

The pathologist observed four gunshot wounds on Odom's body. R. 180, ll. 21-23. The first wound she observed was an entrance wound on the upper left chest. R. 182, ll. 10-14. This bullet went out of Odom's left back. R. 182, ll. 10-14. The second went through the right arm, then entered the right chest and out the right back. R. 182, ll. 15-21. The third wound entered the left lower back. R. 182, ll. 24-25. This one hit the aorta and pancreas. R. 183, ll. 1-2. The pathologist found this bullet under the skin of the abdomen. R. 183, ll. 2-3. The fourth shot went through the right calf. R. 183, ll. 4-6. There was some soot and stippling around the wound to the upper left chest. R. 183, l. 22 – R. 184, l. 15. According to the pathologist, this meant the barrel of the gun was within eighteen inches to two feet of Odom's chest at the time the gun was fired. R. 184, ll. 16-24.

According to the firearms examiner, the projectile removed from the deceased's body by the pathologist during the autopsy was a .380 auto-caliber bullet. R. 87, ll. 5-6. Further, the examiner explained that the casings that were found at the scene could have been fired by the same firearm that fired the projectile that was removed from the deceased's body. R. 88, ll. 8-13.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter where (1) the undisputed evidence showed that Appellant and the deceased were in a heated argument immediately prior to the shooting, (2) there was additional evidence that the deceased pulled a gun and shot at Appellant immediately prior to Appellant returning fire, and (3) the judge based his decision not to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense because Appellant did not remember the content of the argument.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review only errors of law.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 307, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]’s decision absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67.

“The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). “The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513; see also State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996). “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” Pittman, 373 S.C. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167.

“In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” Id. (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 463 S.E.2d 597 (1995); State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994)).

Relevant facts

During the charge conference, defense counsel requested the judge instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 171, ll. 6-7; R. 171, ll. 17-21. Counsel explained that two witnesses testified regarding “interactions exchanged” at the residence. R. 172, l. 21 – R. 173, l.4. The state objected to the instruction, arguing there was no evidence of “any sufficient legal provocation.” R. 171, ll. 9-16.

Despite recognizing there was evidence in the record regarding an argument between Appellant and the deceased and testimony that Appellant swung at the deceased prior to the shooting, the judge refused to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter based upon Appellant’s testimony. R. 173, l. 5 – R. 175, l. 3. According to the judge, Appellant’s testimony that he did not remember an argument with or swinging at the deceased barred an instruction on voluntary manslaughter. R. 173, l. 5 – R. 175, l. 3. The judge questioned how defense counsel could get a sudden heat of passion during an argument if Appellant testified he did not remember the argument occurring. R. 173, ll. 5-20. The judge explained that in light of Appellant not remembering the argument, or more specifically that Appellant did not remember the exact

words the two men exchanged during the argument, then the argument “certainly wasn’t the kind of argument that would arise to the level of sudden heat of passion.” R. 173, l. 23 – R. 174, l. 3.

Relying upon Cook v. State, 415 S.C. 551, 784 S.E.2d 665 (Ct. App. 2015), the judge determined the evidence did not warrant a charge of voluntary manslaughter. R. 174, ll. 4-8. The judge found “no factual basis that [Appellant] was in a sudden heat of passion.” R. 174, ll. 9-15. In the judge’s view, the evidence presented showed the death was “either a murder case or self-defense.” R. 174, ll. 16-18. Put succinctly, the judge determined there was “certainly nothing in the evidence to warrant a sudden heat of passion to the extent that is required to mandate a voluntary manslaughter charge.” R. 174, ll. 16-21. In order for voluntary manslaughter to be considered by the jury, according to the judge, there must be evidence that the defendant’s fear manifested itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. R. 174, l. 22 – R. 175, l. 3. However, the judge found “no evidence that [Appellant] was acting under an uncontrollable impulse resulting from an argument he can’t even remember happening. That’s the argument that allegedly took place right before they started shooting at each other.” R. 174, l. 23 – R. 175, l. 3.

Discussion

A jury charge to a lesser-included offense is required when the evidence warrants such an instruction. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 606, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006). South Carolina law mandates a jury instruction on a lesser-included offense when there is any evidence from which it could be inferred that the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed. State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002); see also State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1996). In other words, the evidence must allow “a rational inference” that the defendant committed the lesser offense. Geiger, 370 S.C. at 607, 635 S.E.2d

at 673. In determining whether such a rational inference exists the court must examine the totality of evidence. Id. As this Court explained in State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 233, 522 S.E.2d 845, 854 (Ct. App. 1999), “[i]n order to justify a charge of a lesser included offense, the evidence must be capable of sustaining either the greater or the lesser offense, depending on the jury’s view of the facts.” A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 162, 410 S.E.2d 572, 574 (1991) (citing State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989)).

An appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant in determining whether the evidence required a charge of voluntary manslaughter. State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994). Only when the record contained no evidence to support voluntary manslaughter should the trial court decline to charge the jury concerning the lesser-included offense. State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 67-68, 536 S.E.2d 666, 668-669 (2000). “To warrant the court in eliminating the offense of manslaughter it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009); see also Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991) (emphasis in original) (holding that in murder cases, trial courts should charge manslaughter unless “there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter”).

Manslaughter is defined by Section 16-3-50 of the South Carolina Code as “the unlawful killing of another without malice, express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann § 16-3-50. Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986). The South Carolina Supreme Court made it clear that both of these elements must be present in order to warrant a

voluntary manslaughter charge. See State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010). Thus, “[w]hether a voluntary manslaughter charge is warranted turns on the facts.” Starnes, 388 S.C. at 597, 698 S.E.2d at 608; see also, State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001) (“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.”).

Quoting a trial judge’s jury instruction, the Supreme Court explained voluntary manslaughter as follows:

The law recognizes the frailties of human nature, and appreciates the fact that there may be occasions in one’s life when he may lose control of himself temporarily, be swept off his feet, to act upon the spur of the moment rather from premeditation or design. And, if under those circumstances one slays his fellow man, the law will not excuse him entirely, but will not visit upon him the extreme penalty it would have if the act had been accompanied by malice. ... [T]he provocation which the law recognizes as being one sufficient to reduce the homicide from murder to manslaughter must be such as to involve some indignity to throw a man in sudden heat and passion. ... So, also by way of illustration, if he should meet another on the street and that one should pull his nose, or spit in his face, and on the spur of the moment he should slay him, he would be guilty, not of murder, but of manslaughter. ... [W]ords, however opprobrious, could never be sufficient to reduce a homicide from murder to manslaughter.

State v. Cleland, 148 S.C. 86, 86, 145 S.E. 628, 629 (1928) overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009).

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