STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**ORIGINAL**

Appeal from Barnwell County  
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

Demontay Markeith Payne,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2017-002014

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

J. STROM THURMOND  
Second Judicial Circuit Solicitor

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

for voluntary manslaughter is only proper if there is evidence to demonstrate *both* a sudden heat of passion *and* sufficient legal provocation under the circumstances presented. *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 102, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000); *State v. Byrd*, 323 S.C. 319, 322, 474 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1996). These elements demonstrate that a voluntary manslaughter charge is only proper if there is evidence to demonstrate that a defendant was subject to a sudden heat of passion, and based on the circumstances, was reasonably put into such a state by sufficient legal provocation. It is the actual heat of passion itself that Appellant neglects to address and satisfy.

There are numerous instances where despite the defendant's request for voluntary manslaughter instructions, the facts of the case lacked evidence showing heat of passion and rendered self-defense as the only proper instruction. First, in *State v. Cole*, the Court concluded that there was "no evidence presented that Appellant was overcome by a sudden heat of passion as would produce an "uncontrollable impulse to do violence." On the contrary, by Appellant's own testimony, he shot at the men to scare them away. The Court found that "Appellant's testimony appears designed to support a charge of self-defense, not heat of passion." *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 102, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000). In *Niles*, our Court recognized that the Appellant's own testimony did not establish that he was overtaken by a sudden heat of passion, but rather that he did not want to hurt victim, shot with his eyes closed, and only wished to scare victim away. As such, his testimony satisfied a self-defense instruction, but not a voluntary manslaughter instruction. *State v. Niles*, 412 S.C. 515, 522–23, 772 S.E.2d 877, 880–81 (2015). Chief Justice Toal's concurring opinion in *State v. Childers* noted that the defendant's own narrative was instructive, and demonstrated that he harbored no criminal intent whatsoever. The facts demonstrated that defendant was shot at first and defendant used his own gun to return fire, and "retreated from the property while firing multiple times over his shoulder." *State v. Childers*,

373 S.C. 367, 374–76, 645 S.E.2d 233, 237 (2007) (Toal, J, Concurring).

In *State v. Starnes*, our Court found that “manslaughter should not be charged simply because a defendant claiming self-defense testifies he was afraid.” *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 597, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010). Our Supreme Court took considerable efforts to distinguish evidence of fear and how it should be evaluated in terms of voluntary manslaughter. Therein, our Court conceded that fear can serve as the basis for voluntary manslaughter, but ruled that inquiry does not stop with the conclusion that fear existed. *Id.* at 598. “Succinctly stated, to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, the defendant's fear must manifest itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” *Id.* at 598-99. Lastly, and the authority cited by the trial court in Appellant’s case, *Cook v. State* notes that “whether or not the facts constitute a sudden heat of passion is an appropriate question for the court.” *Cook v. State*, 415 S.C. 551, 557, 784 S.E.2d 665, 668 (2015) (citing *State v. Niles*, at 522). Similar to the case at hand (if evidence supporting defendant is to be believed), defendant *Cook* attempted to walk away from Victim, but Victim cut him off. Our Court concluded that the fact the defendant was trying to walk away does not suggest he was incapable of cooling off or controlling his actions. *Id.* Likewise, the Court reasoned that Cook’s own statement did not indicate he lacked control over his actions. As such the case was rendered either a murder, or self-defense. *Id.* As in *Cook*, a voluntary manslaughter charge under the circumstances of Appellant’s case would encourage compromised verdict that would undermine the fundamental fairness of the trial. *Id.* at 559.

The trial court’s reliance upon and application of *Cook v. State* to the circumstances presented in Appellant’s case was proper. In Appellant’s case there are conflicting testimonies abound, but none satisfy the factual requirements needed to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, specifically that a heat of passion existed. The state’s witness, Alicia Youmans, testified

that an argument, however brief began on the porch of 59 W. Estates, and after a few minutes continued in the E. Lane intersection. The argument ended when Appellant seemed to walk away, only to turn around and begin firing at Victim. Here, there is insufficient legal provocation, as the testimony showed nothing more than verbal argument before Appellant shot Victim. It should be noted that the forensic evidence supports this testimony as the Victim attempted to run away between nearby trailers from the shooting, *and the sole .40 caliber round was found beside his body, not at the location in which he was shot at.* This evidence would suggest that he did not attempt to shoot back until well after being shot. It's also supported by the fact that Victim was struck four times, one occurring within a range of *at most* two feet, and Appellant was not shot at all.

Regardless of credibility, there is also evidence from Tyeisha Youmans. She testified that the initial argument at 59 W. Estates was not particularly heated, and chose to describe it as "having words". She also could not recall the subject matter of the dispute. She testified that from a distance, it appeared as though Appellant and Victim continued their dispute and that Appellant swung at Victim. Victim pulled out a gun which prompted Appellant to walk away with his hands up indicating he did not wish to fight. She testified that Victim followed Appellant to his yard, shot once at Appellant, and only after being shot at did Appellant turn back around and shoot back in self-defense. While she testified that Appellant shooting back was "consecutive", based upon her testimony Appellant did not act first. Under this evidence, we have absolutely no testimony to demonstrate the content of the argument or the reasoning for Appellant returning fire. While under this version of facts, there are both words and an overt threatening act, i.e. arguably sufficient legal provocation, there is still absolutely no context or evidence to determine that the necessary heat of passion existed; there is no evidence to

demonstrate that Appellant was out of control. In fact, it would appear the opposite, as under this version of facts, Appellant still maintained sufficient control to put his hands up and walk away from the altercation. Our Court has made it clear that both elements are necessary to warrant the charge, and the testimony from Tyeisha is lacking evidence of heat of passion.

Lastly, most significantly, and regardless of credibility, is the testimony of Appellant himself. Appellant testified that he could not recall whether a subsequent argument at the E. Lane intersection occurred, nor could he recall the subject matter of the dispute in the first place. Moreover, Appellant testified that he fired back in self-defense, and gave no indication whatsoever that his actions were a result of a heat of passion and an uncontrollable impulse to do harm. Appellant's specific testimony states, "When you're backing up not looking, you can't see who you're shooting at or what you're shooting, you just know you're shooting to get someone away from you or anything that's firing at you away." (R. p. 164, lines 15-20). Such testimony demonstrates that he was not overtaken by a desire to do harm to Victim, but was firing to get Victim away from him, and could not be sure if he was even firing at Victim during his retreat. In culmination, Appellant was asked if problems existed between he and Victim, and his *only response* was that he believed Victim probably harbored a hostile feeling toward him. (R. p. 168, line 20 through p. 169, line 4).

If any gray area remained at all as to whether the *lack of detail* in Tyeisha's testimony regarding heat of passion might create enough gray area to consider a voluntary manslaughter charge, the testimony of Appellant filled in the blanks with absolute clarity. The trial court was correct in finding that Appellant's testimony left no doubt as to the heat of passion element, wherein he ruled from the bench that Appellant's inability to remember any subsequent argument or the content of the dispute demonstrated a lack of heat of passion, and that in this

case there is likewise no indication that Appellant's fear manifested itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. (R. p. 173, line 5 through p. 174, line 25).

This case, as was concluded by the trial court, is either a self-defense case or a murder case, but it does not support voluntary manslaughter. (R. p. 174, lines 16-18). Given the evidence presented and the precedent relied upon, the trial court did not err in denying the voluntary manslaughter charge, as there is no evidence demonstrating the shooting was committed in a sudden heat of passion.

**II. Did the trial judge commit prejudicial error in refusing to instruct the jury as requested with language that Appellant, if deemed to be acting in self-defense, is justified to continue shooting until the apparent danger has ceased when Appellant's own defense theory demonstrated that he did not know whether he had shot victim and was firing behind his back while attempting to run away, and where such an instruction would constitute an error on the facts?**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in declining to give its precise requested self-defense instruction which included language that the Appellant, if deemed to be shooting in self-defense was entitled to continue shooting until the threat had ended. While Respondent argues that the trial court's exclusion of this particular portion of the self-defense charge was not in error, as such a charge was not necessary under the facts and would otherwise constitute a charge upon the facts in violation of the South Carolina Constitution, the most convincing argument demonstrates that the issue is ultimately harmless in consideration of the facts presented at trial.

**a. If the trial court's denial of the "shoot until you stop" language was in error, it is harmless error in light of the facts of the case.**

"When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must 'determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.'" *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct.App.1998)). "In making a harmless error

analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” *Id.* The issue of a defendant justifiably firing multiple times at their assailant only becomes relevant if there is a reasonable concern that the jury would interpret a defendant’s continued discharge of a weapon as somehow detracting from his otherwise self-defending acts. This concern only arises in circumstances where the defendant is actually aware that he has shot the assailant or otherwise reduced the assailant’s threats, but leaves unanswered the question of whether danger still exists. As this is not the circumstance presented by Appellant’s case, any error by the trial court was harmless.

Succinctly put, the number of shots fired by a defendant in self-defense only matter to the jury if the facts demonstrate that the defendant knew whether the first of his shots had successfully ended or reduced the threat. If Appellant’s self-defense testimony is to be believed, then likewise would the jury believe the context in which the shots were fired. Appellant specifically testified at trial that after Victim shot at him he fired back in self-defense, was backing up while shooting, was not paying attention to where he was shooting, and does not recall how many times he fired. (R. p. 155, lines 12-24; p. 156, lines 5-21). These points were reiterated on cross-examination, wherein Appellant testified, “When you’re backing up not looking, you can’t see who you’re shooting at or what you’re shooting, you just know you’re shooting to get someone away from you or anything that’s firing at you away.” (R. p. 164, lines 15-20). Appellant also testified that he did not see Victim on the ground until he was driving away. (R. p. 157, lines 2-8).

Under these circumstances, the number of shots is irrelevant, as all were fired under the alleged initial threat posed by Victim, and Appellant, if believed, was retreating and unaware of

whether the first shots had any effect on the perceived threat. Moreover, the self-defense charge given by the trial court encompasses the leniency for which Appellant requested the additional charging language. In instructing on the second element of self-defense, the trial court instructs the jury that defendant must actually be in imminent danger or believe he is in imminent danger, and that consideration should be given to the physical condition and characteristics of the defendant and the assailant. (R. p. 230-231). Under the circumstances presented, if Appellant is believed, there is no evidence or testimony which demonstrated that Appellant continued to shoot Victim after knowingly eliminating the threat or incapacitating Victim. As this is the only factual scenario for which the additional charge language is applicable, the facts do not warrant the charge. There can be no prejudice to Appellant under the circumstances, as the requested charge was ultimately irrelevant to the case facts.

Appellant's requested charge is simply irrelevant in light of the factual scenario painted by the defense in support of self-defense. They argued to the jury that Victim fired first and Appellant fired back blindly while running away. The number of shots is irrelevant as there is nothing to demonstrate that the initial perceived threat had changed before the shooting ceased.

**b. Appellant's requested charge is impermissible under the South Carolina Constitution.**

South Carolina, by constitutional prohibition, does not permit a court to give jury instructions based on the facts of a case. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. Moreover, the trial court was within its discretion to deny the charge based on the parameters guiding proper jury instructions.

"Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. "[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C.

296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). “Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” *State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” *Id.* Here, the charge was a current and correct statement of the law the elements of self-defense. “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 270-71, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011). “Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.” *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 512, 716 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2011). “The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). This issue was most recently addressed in *State v. Otts*. Therein, our Court found that it was in error to give instruction on defense of others at the request of the State. The Court’s ruling demonstrated that it is improper to give jury instruction which comments upon either party’s theory of the case. See *State v. Otts*, 424 S.C. 150, 155, 817 S.E.2d 540, 543 (Ct. App. 2018), reh’g denied (Aug. 16, 2018), cert. granted (Dec. 13, 2018), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted, No. 2018-001671, 2019 WL 1783684 (S.C. Apr. 24, 2019).

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